
 
 

BEFORE THE 
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
DECISION 

Margaret Broussard, Administrative Law Judge (ALJ), from the Office of 

Administrative Hearings (OAH), State of California, heard this matter on May 29, 30, 31 

and June 4 and 5, 2013, in Sunnyvale, California.1 

Father represented Student. Student was not present. Attorney Rodney Levin of 

McArthur & Levin represented the Cupertino Union School District (District). Jennifer 

 

1 On May 29, 2013 after the hearing began, Father asked for a short continuance 

due to Student’s recent illness and seizure activity. The hearing was continued until May 

30, 2013. 
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Keicher, director of special education, was present throughout the hearing on behalf of 

the District.2 

Student filed his request for a due process hearing (complaint one) on March 18, 

2013, in OAH case number 2013030785. On April 2, 2013, Student filed another request 

for hearing in OAH case number 2013040122 (complaint two). On April 16, 2013, OAH 

issued an order consolidating complaint one and complaint two.  

At hearing, oral and documentary evidence were received. At the close of the 

hearing, the matter was continued to July 1, 2013, for the submission of closing briefs.3 

On June 27, 2013 Student filed a motion to admit supplementary evidence. On July 1, 

2013, the District submitted an opposition to the motion. On July 1, 2013, both parties 

submitted their closing briefs, the record was closed and the matter was submitted for 

decision.  

ISSUES4 

I. Did the District unilaterally predetermine Student’s individualized education 

program (IEP) in an IEP offer dated March 29, 2012, which denied Student a 

free appropriate public education (FAPE)?  
 

2 When Ms. Keicher testified, Shelly Ota, a special education coordinator, took her 

place as District’s representative. 

3 Student’s Closing Brief has been marked for identification as Student’s Exhibit 

27, and the District’s Closing Brief has been marked for identification as District’s Exhibit 

57.  

4 The issues are listed here as set forth in the Order Following Prehearing 

Conference (PHC Order). To the extent that either party raised issues in their closing 

brief not listed in this decision, they are not considered.  
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II. Did the District deny Student a FAPE at an IEP team meeting on May 31, 2012, 

by denying Parents’ request for home-hospital instruction because of 

Student’s medication? 

III. Did the District deny Student a FAPE for the 2012-2013 school year (SY) by 

not providing him with home-hospital instruction and related services 

following an August 29, 2012, agreement, that it would do so?  

REQUESTED REMEDIES 

Student has asked for remedies that include placement at the District’s expense, 

including transportation, with a non-public agency (NPA) specializing in serving children 

with Autism, chosen by Parents. Student also asked for reimbursement for the costs of 

an alternative program consisting of 100 hours per month of one-to-one applied 

behavior analysis (ABA) delivered in Student’s home. 

CONTENTIONS OF THE PARTIES 

Student contends that the District denied him a FAPE by predetermining its 

March 29, 2012 IEP offer; failing to place him on home-hospital instruction through the 

May 31, 2012 IEP offer; and, failing to implement the home-hospital instruction, and 

related services, provided for in the August 29, 2012 IEP.  

The District contends that it did not predetermine the March 29, 2012, offer of 

placement and services and Parents prevented it from finishing the February 16, 2012, 

IEP team meeting by refusing to return to a meeting to complete the IEP. The District 

also contends that it did not err by failing to put Student on home-hospital instruction 

at the May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting because the District did not have proper 

physician support for home-hospital instruction. The District agrees that it did not 

provide Student with some of the services outlined in the August 29, 2012, IEP 

amendment, but contends that Student’s schedule prevented it from providing some of 
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the services and that it is willing to make up some of the services missed. Finally, the 

District contends that Student was only eligible for home-hospital services through 

November 29, 2012, and not again until February 2013.  

PROCEDURAL MATTER 

MOTION TO ADMIT SUPPLEMENTARY EVIDENCE 

On June 27, 2013, after the hearing was completed, but before the record was 

closed, Student made a motion to admit supplementary evidence. The supplementary 

evidence was attached to the motion and consisted of three invoices consisting of 

insurance co-payments for certain ABA services Parents privately obtained for Student in 

the months of July 2012, August 2012 and April 2013.5 On July 1, 2013, the District filed 

an opposition to the motion.  

Education Code section 56505, subdivision (e)(7), requires the parties to a special 

education dispute to disclose their documents to each other at least five business days 

prior to the hearing. Education Code section 56505.1, subdivision (f), authorizes the ALJ 

hearing the case to bar introduction of any documents not disclosed to the other party, 

without the consent of the other party, as required by section 56505, subdivision (e)(7). 

In this case, the May 20, 2013, PHC Order contained an advisement that “[e]xcept for 

good cause shown, or unless used solely for rebuttal or impeachment, any exhibit not 

included in the exhibit lists and not previously exchanged shall not be admitted into 

evidence at the hearing unless it is supported by a written declaration under penalty of 

perjury, and the ALJ rules that it is admissible.” 

Student’s motion does not comply with the ALJ’s instructions in the PHC Order as 

it does not contain a sufficient declaration under penalty of perjury, either from Father 

 
5 The invoices have been marked as Student’s Exhibit 26. 
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or from a representative of the Center for Autism Related Disorders (CARD) to 

authenticate the documents. Father signed the motion under penalty of perjury and 

stated in the motion that although the invoices are dated April 30, 2013, he did not 

receive them until June 26, 2013. However, only the April 2013 invoice is dated April 30, 

2013. The July and August 2012 invoices are dated January 1, 2013, and Father provided 

no explanation for their delay in submission. In addition, Student failed to adhere to the 

PHC Order’s provision for advance disclosure, or to disclose the documents to the 

District at least five business days in advance of the hearing, as required by law. The 

documents are therefore subject to exclusion. 

Therefore, Student’s motion to admit the supplementary evidence is denied.  

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

BACKGROUND AND JURISDICTION 

1. Student is an eleven year-old boy who is currently residing with Parents 

within the geographical boundaries of the District. Student moved into the District at 

the beginning of the 2010-2011 SY and has been eligible for special education as a 

student with autistic-like behaviors since February 2011. Student was diagnosed with 

regressive autism when he was about three years old.  

2. There were two previous cases before OAH between these parties, which 

resulted in decisions. In OAH case number 2011070771, Student claimed that the 

District denied him a FAPE with respect to IEP’s from February, April and June 2011. His 

claims were litigated on the merits at a hearing before ALJ Gary A. Geren on October 11 
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and 12, and November 1 and 2, 2011. On December 22, 2011, OAH issued a Decision, in 

which denied Student’s requests for relief as to all issues in the case.6  

3. In OAH case number 2012020850, Student claimed that the District denied 

him a FAPE by failing to implement a goal from the February 2011 IEP and by failing to 

consider a private evaluation in connection with a February 2012 IEP team meeting. His 

claims were litigated at a hearing before ALJ Deidre L. Johnson on May 21 and 22, 2012. 

On July 10, 2012, OAH issued a Decision, which denied Student’s requests for relief as to 

all issues, primarily finding that the District did not fail to implement the goal at issue 

and that the issue regarding consideration of the private evaluation was not ripe 

because the IEP team meeting from February 2012 had not yet concluded.7 

February 2011 Occupational Therapy Assessment 

4. Ms. Smita Chandru, occupational therapist, completed an assessment of 

Student in February 2011.8 That assessment contained several recommendations for 

Student, including recommendations for Student to receive individual school based 

occupational therapy (OT) services to address fine motor difficulties and sensory 

processing issues. Ms. Chandru also recommended that a sensory diet be built into 
 

6 Official Notice is taken of Student’s second amended complaint and the 

December 22, 2011 Decision in OAH case number 2011070771.  

7 Official Notice is taken of Student’s complaint and the July 10, 2012, Decision in 

OAH case number 2012020850.  

8 Ms. Smita Chandru has an undergraduate degree in occupational therapy and a 

master’s degree in occupational therapy. She is a registered occupational therapist and 

has been working at the District since 2008. Ms. Chandru provided OT services to 

Student in the 2011-2012 SY. 
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Student’s regular class schedule to provide him with movement breaks, and tactile and 

proprioceptive inputs to help Student process stimulation better. She stated that 

modifications to the sensory diet would be ongoing depending on his needs and 

response. She also recommended OT consultation services to set up and modify the 

sensory diet. Because this assessment is not recent, it is accorded weight only as it 

supports the totality of the evidence in this matter regarding Student’s individual OT 

needs and the purpose of the OT consultation for Student.  

April 2011 Behavioral Assessment 

5. Patricia Strass, M.A., board certified behavior analyst (BCBA), performed a 

behavioral assessment of Student in April 2011.9 Neither party called Ms. Strass to testify 

in the hearing. The assessment indicates that, as of April 2011, Student was constantly 

looking for sensory input and was constantly distracted during his instruction time. He 

was described as not following instructions consistently, unable to imitate or show 

awareness of his peers, and unable to use materials and objects functionally. Ms. Strass 

opined that it was hard for Student to generalize his skills. She stated that Student 

needs to participate in an environment that consistently follows the ABA principles and 

that where staff work with Student on a daily basis needs to systematically apply the 

same principles. Because this assessment is also not recent, it is accorded weight only as 

it supports the totality of the evidence in this matter regarding Student’s needs, and 

particularly regarding the appropriateness of ABA methodology for Student based upon 

his needs.  

 
9 Both Patricia Strass and Dr. Damon Korb did not testify at hearing. As such, their 

credentials are not noted in this decision. 
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August 2011 Assessment Developmental Assessment 

6. An independent developmental assessment was completed for Student in 

August 2011 by Dr. Damon Korb, MD, a Behavioral and Developmental Pediatrician and 

the Director of the Center for Developing Minds. Dr. Korb reported that Student did not 

greet him or shake his hand when directed. Student did not sustain eye contact and his 

movements were impulsive, reaching and grabbing for objects. Student threw things 

around the room and quickly put most items he touched into his mouth. Student did 

not demonstrate functional play and Dr. Korb stated that Student’s social interactions, 

behavior, and play resembled that of a child six months to eighteen months of age.  

7. Dr. Korb determined that it was difficult to ascertain Student’s cognitive 

level, since his social interactions and communication skills were very low. However, he 

opined that Student’s cognitive abilities were quite likely low, given that his self-help 

skills were at the level of a toddler, although Student was nine years old at the time Dr. 

Korb recommended that Student’s educational plan maximize his communication skills 

and promote his self-help skills. He also recommended OT to help calm Student’s 

behavior and extinguish his sensory seeking behavior, which Dr. Korb characterized as 

highly disruptive and posing a safety risk. Dr. Korb also recommended OT, language 

therapy, and a trial of ABA therapy for 20-25 hours per week.10  

 
10 ABA is a methodology for behavioral intervention first articulated by the 

psychologist B.F. Skinner and first applied to autistic children by Dr. O. Ivar Lovaas. ABA 

is described in numerous IDEA decisions. (See, e.g., Rocklin Unified School Dist. v. 

Student (2007) Cal.Offc.Admin.Hrgs. Case No. N2006110278, aff’d sub nom. Joshua A. v. 

Rocklin Unified School Dist. (9th Cir., March 19, 2009, No. 08-15845) 319 Fed.Appx. 692 

[nonpub. opn.].) 
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Student’s Placement at the Beginning of the 2011-2012 SY 

8. For the 2011-2012 SY, Student was initially placed in a moderate to 

severely handicapped special day class (SDC) at Eisenhower Elementary School, taught 

by Ms. Vicky Broumas. He remained in this class until April 2012, when his Parents 

removed him after a series of seizures, which happened both in school and on the 

school bus.  

September 2011 ABA Assessment  

9. In September 2011, CARD evaluated Student for ABA behavioral 

intervention. At that time, Student was nine years old. He was not initiating toileting in 

the community and would often either pull his pants down in public or soil himself. 

Student could use a spoon for feeding, but preferred to use his fingers to eat. Student 

could put on elastic waist underwear, pants and shorts, but needed assistance with all 

other articles of clothing. Student responded to his name inconsistently and had 

difficulty sustaining eye contact during interactions. Student would get excited seeing 

other children play, but was unable to join in their play appropriately.  

10. CARD noted in their evaluation that Student’s language skills were 

delayed. Student could comply with one and two-step commands, but could only follow 

two-step commands with prompting. Student could inconsistently match identical items 

and identify familiar objects. Student was able to imitate sounds, but did not produce 

spontaneous language. Student could convey what he wanted through gestures and 

pointing.  

11. Student exhibited maladaptive behaviors, including noncompliance, 

tantruming, and aggression. Student was observed to engage in various behaviors, 

which included a persistent need to hold objects in his hands, lick and mouth inanimate 

and inedible items and throw or flip paper and books.  
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12. CARD recommended that Student receive 100 hours per month (25 hours 

per week) of one-to-one behavioral intervention provided by therapists trained in ABA 

methods. To support this level of intervention, CARD also recommended that each of 

the three therapists working with Student receive four hours of clinic attendance each 

month to ensure the consistency and efficacy of his program. CARD stressed that it was 

imperative that Student’s program be supervised by a qualified ABA consultant for 10 

hours per month. CARD recommended that goals in their treatment program be in the 

areas of mand training (teaching Student to request preferred items and activities and 

request cessation of non-preferred activities), compliance, verbal imitation, object labels, 

matching, eye contact, joint attention, independent play, interactive play, motor skills, 

daily living skills, and parent training. Student began receiving the 100 hours of 

instruction per month and related clinic and supervision hours in December 2011. The 

ABA services have been paid for by Parents medical insurance and Parents pay a co-pay 

of $30.00 per day up to their maximum yearly deductible.  

February 16, 2012 Annual IEP Team Meeting 

13. The District began Student’s annual IEP team meeting on February 16, 

2012. Prior to the IEP team meeting, Parents sent the District a set of proposed goals for 

Student that they wanted the IEP team to consider, and a copy of Dr. Korb’s report. An 

employee of CARD attended the IEP team meeting, along with the rest of the IEP team 

members.  

14. The February 16, 2012, IEP document lists Student’s present levels of 

performance. Student could match numbers one to 10 and all lower case and upper 

case letters. Student could recognize and match basic colors and shapes. Student was 

reportedly able to work for rewards. Student could not use a one word utterance 

without a prompt. Student could follow two-step commands with a prompt. Student 

could participate in table top OT sessions without putting things in his mouth during the 
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sessions. Student had a good pencil grasp, but did not have a strong grip on the pencil. 

Student could snip paper while cutting, but was unable to cut in a straight line. It was 

reported that on some days, Student sought a lot of oral input. Student was provided 

many kinds of sensory interventions in the classroom.  

15. Student was described as generally happy and content. However, when he 

was frustrated, he would cry, grab, pinch or have the teacher or aide squeeze his head 

when he was upset. He reportedly did well with transitions and followed classroom 

routines with minimum to moderate prompting. Student was able to sit and attend at 

his desk for five to 10 minutes without grabbing and licking items.  

16. Parents sent the District a copy of Dr. Korb’s report well before the 

February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting. However, the District did not distribute the report 

to the IEP team members prior to the IEP team meeting. Parents also sent a fax with 

proposed goals for Student they wanted the IEP team to consider. These goals were 

distributed to IEP team members.  

PREDETERMINATION 

17. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), parents of a 

child with a disability must have an opportunity to participate in meetings with respect 

to the identification, assessment, educational placement, and provision of a FAPE to 

their child. A district must fairly and honestly consider the views of parents expressed in 

an IEP team meeting, including information from private assessors. While school officials 

may discuss a child’s programming in advance of the IEP team meeting, they may not 

arrive at an IEP team meeting with a “take it or leave it” attitude, having already decided 

on the program to be offered. A district that predetermines the child’s program and 

does not consider the parents’ requests with an open mind has denied the parents’ right 

to participate in the IEP process. 
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18. Although an IEP team meeting began on February 16, 2012, the discussion 

regarding Student’s goals was not completed nor was consideration of Dr. Korb’s report 

and a placement offer was not made. The meeting was adjourned to be completed at a 

later date.11 Father testified credibly that he expected that the meeting would reconvene 

before the end of February 2012. The District was unavailable the week following 

February 16, 2012, due to a week-long recess. Father testified that he was told that the 

team could not meet during the last week of February due to the fact that Mrs. 

Broumas, the classroom teacher, would be out of the country.  

19. Father was upset because he felt that the District had not considered Dr. 

Korb’s report or Parents’ suggested goals that were faxed to the District prior to the 

February 16, 2012 IEP team meeting. Father felt that the District was not interested in 

parental input. He felt that the District’s failure to reconvene the meeting in a timely 

manner was another instance of the District not showing interest in parental input. 

Father filed for hearing in OAH case number 2012020850 on February 22, 2012, alleging 

that the District failed to consider Dr. Korb’s report at the February 12, 2012 IEP team 

meeting.  

20. On March 2, 2012, the District developed a notice of IEP team meeting for 

a meeting scheduled on March 9, 2012. The District sent an email to Parents, attaching 

the IEP team meeting notice and stating that the purpose of the meeting was to discuss 

the program, placement and services for Student. Father replied to the District via email 

on March 5, 2012, with the following message: 

 
11 The previous decision in OAH case number 2012020850 found that the 

February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting was incomplete. The testimony of several District 

employees in this hearing also confirmed that there was a need to reconvene to finish 

the goals, consider the outside assessment, and discuss placement and services.  
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“This has reference to the due process hearing filed with CA-

OAH (vide, case number 2012020850). I am afraid we need to 

invoke stay put condition. Until a settlement is reached or a 

judge issues an opinion, the public school district cannot 

change the child’s program, services or placement. Please 

bear with us until the case gets resolved. The scheduled IEP 

may please be cancelled until further notice by us.” 

21. The District responded by letter dated March 6, 2012. The District 

attempted to explain the difference between stay put and the District’s obligation to 

complete the February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting and make an offer of placement and 

services. The District asked Parents to reconsider attending the IEP team meeting. Father 

sent another email on March 7, 2012, stating that it would be a violation of the law to 

hold the IEP team meeting because the parents “prefer stay put condition.” The District 

responded that its letter from March 6, 2012, “clarified your concern regarding stay put.” 

Father responded one last time on March 7, 2012, asking the District to “Please read 

carefully my reply before posting reply or you may please consult your lawyer.” The 

District did take steps to get Parents to attend an IEP team meeting and Parents were 

not willing to attend at that time due to what appears to be a misunderstanding of the 

District’s obligation to make a placement offer for Student in his annual IEP and stay 

put. The evidence established that Parents were unwilling to attend an IEP team meeting 

until the scheduled hearing had taken place.  

March 29, 2012 Offer of Placement 

22. There was no evidence of any other communications regarding the 

scheduling of the continued IEP team meeting. The District sent a letter to Parents dated 

March 29, 2012. In this letter, Shelly Ota, coordinator of special education for the 
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District, stated that the District had requested on several occasions that Parents attend 

an IEP team meeting to complete the IEP that began on February 16, 2012. The letter 

states that the District “has no other option than to send you a completed IEP offer.” 

Attached to the letter were the IEP documents from the February 16, 2012, IEP team 

meeting with several new pages to the IEP attached, including pages outlining the 

placement and service offer from the District. The letter outlines the following 

placement offer: 

1. Placement in the special day class at Eisenhower Elementary School;  

2. Language and Speech two times weekly for 30 minutes each in an individual 

setting; 

3. OT one time weekly for 30 minutes in an individual setting; 

4. OT consult once monthly for 30 minutes to support the staff and student;  

5. Behavior Intervention training and consultation for 2 hours monthly to 

support the staff and student;  

6. Parent training from the Comprehensive Autism Program (CAP) for 60 

minutes monthly. 

23. Evidence established that the District had not completed the IEP meeting 

on February 16, 2012. The District had not completed consideration of Dr. Korb’s report, 

finished the goals or made a placement offer The District did not hold another IEP 

meeting to finish the IEP team meeting that began on February 16, 2012, before 

unilaterally generating the March 29, 2012, IEP letter and IEP documents attached to the 

letter.  

24. The District’s position that their obligation to hold an IEP team meeting for 

Student was contingent upon Parents agreeing to attend the meeting is not supported 

by the law, as discussed below, and is therefore rejected. If the District could not get 

Parents to attend an IEP team meeting, the District was still obligated to complete the 
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IEP team meeting with the other members of the IEP team so the team could finish 

considering the Korb evaluation, develop the goals and discuss, develop and offer 

placement and services for Student. This did not happen. The District unilaterally, and 

without considering IEP team input for the goals and Dr. Korb’s report, made a take-it-

or-leave-it offer to Parents in the March 29, 2012, letter.  

25. Ms. Shonia Porter, District Speech and Language Therapist, credibly 

testified that, in March 2012, Ms. Ota called her and asked her enter into the District’s 

computerized IEP program her recommendation for speech and language services for 

Student.12 No one from the District or any other IEP team member made contact with 

Ms. Porter to talk about the proposed speech and language services or to have any 

discussion regarding the speech and language service offer that was placed into the 

computerized system. Ms. Chandru, the occupational therapist, credibly testified that 

she was asked by someone from the District whether she agreed with the OT service 

offer to be placed in the March 29, 2012, letter and that she did agree. She did not meet 

with anyone to discuss her OT recommendation or any placement recommendation 

from other members of the IEP team. Mrs. Broumas credibly testified that she did not 

recall being consulted at all about the contents of the March 29, 2012, placement offer.  

26. However, Ms. Ota testified that she sent an email to all IEP team members 

prior to writing the March 29, 2012, letter. She testified that she asked the District IEP 

team members to get together, consider information about Student and collectively 

create an offer of placement and services for Student. Ms. Ota testified that the team 

 
12 Ms. Porter has an undergraduate degree in Communications Disorders and a 

master’s degree in Speech Pathology. She has a license and credential in speech 

pathology. She has been employed at the District as a speech pathologist since 2009. 

Ms. Porter delivered Student’s speech and language services during the 2011-2012 SY.  
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members responded back to her with a collectively created offer and that is the offer 

contained in the March 29, 2012, letter. Ms. Ota’s testimony was not credible because it 

was in direct contradiction to the testimony of the speech and language pathologist, 

teacher and occupational therapist. Further, when asked if she had copies of the emails, 

she testified she did, but no emails showing any collaboration to develop the March 29, 

2012, IEP offer between Ms. Ota and any other member of the IEP team were produced 

during the hearing. Even if the team members had gotten together to collectively 

develop the placement offer, the rest of the IEP was incomplete.  

27. Although Father had refused to attend the March 9, 2012, meeting to 

continue the February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting, he did not fully understand the 

interplay of the District’s obligation to make a new offer and the obligations of stay put. 

The refusal of Parents to attend a continued IEP team meeting until a hearing 

challenging the first part of the meeting was completed was not a withdrawal from the 

IEP process, but an incorrect attempt to ensure that the report Parents delivered to the 

IEP team would be considered at any continuation meeting.  

28. While the law certainly contains a strong preference that parents attend 

IEP team meetings, the District’s obligation to hold an IEP team meeting is not 

dependent on a parent agreeing to attend the IEP team meeting. School districts must 

make serious and substantial efforts to ensure parental attendance, but, if they cannot, 

the IEP team meeting must still be held. The District has a responsibility to move 

forward with the IEP development process even if parents refuse to attend an IEP team 

meeting. Here, the District unilaterally decided that, if Parents would not attend the 

meeting, then it did not have to hold a meeting to finish discussing the goals, consider 

the IEE, and discuss placement and services. The March 29, 2012, offer was not made 

through any collaborative effort with the rest of the IEP team. The evidence showed that 

the speech pathologist alone determined the level of speech services, the occupational 
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therapist was asked to approve the OT services and no one consulted with Student’s 

SDC teacher. The District’s special education coordinator made a take-it-or-leave-it offer 

of placement outside an IEP team meeting. There is no provision in the law that allows 

for a placement offer to be made by unilateral letter.  

29. Had the District set a date for the continuation meeting, sent the parents 

an IEP team meeting notice and then held a meeting, it would have given the parents 

notice that the District intended to hold the meeting regardless of whether Parents 

chose to attend and given Parents one last opportunity to participate in the IEP team 

meeting.  

30. The District should have held an IEP team meeting to finish the remainder 

of the IEP that began at the February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting. Student has met his 

burden to show that the offer of March 29, 2012, was predetermined. Therefore, the 

District committed a procedural violation from the date of the March 29, 2012, letter 

until the IEP team convened again on May 31, 2012.  

31. For a procedural violation to deny a student a FAPE, the violation has to 

either result in a loss of educational opportunity or seriously infringe the parents’ 

opportunity to participate in the IEP development process. It is clear that had the District 

reconvened the IEP meeting, the IEP team would have considered Dr. Korb’s report, and 

discussed the goals and the placement options for Student, including the 

recommendations for ABA in Dr. Korb’s report, as they did when the IEP team 

reconvened in June 2012. This resulted in lost educational opportunity for Student and 

therefore a denial of FAPE because the IEP team would have better considered the 

educational possibilities as presented in both Parent’s proposed goals and Dr. Korb’s 

report.  

32. Further, the District’s failure to consider Dr. Korb’s report and finish 

considering Parents’ proposed goals before the IEP offer was made is evidence of the 

Accessibility modified document



 
 

18 

District’s failure to ensure parental participation to the extent they could, absent Parents’ 

attendance at the IEP team meeting. This seriously infringed on Parents’ opportunity to 

participate in the IEP process. For both these reasons, the District’s procedural violation 

resulted in a denial of FAPE and the Student met his burden to show that the District 

denied him a FAPE from March 29, 2012, until May 31, 2012, when another IEP team 

meeting was held and another placement offer made for Student.  

Student’s Medical Condition after March 29, 2012 

33. On April 9, 2012, Student had a seizure at school. Parents met with District 

staff regarding the episode. The District offered to develop a seizure protocol in 

consultation with Student’s physician and informed Parents that all staff members in 

Student’s classroom had been trained in first aid for seizures. Student returned to 

school. 

34. On April 23, 2012, Student had a seizure on the school bus on the way 

home from school. When the bus arrived at Student’s home, Mother entered the bus to 

remove Student and found Student in a deep sleep and was unable to rouse him. 

Paramedics were called and Student transported to the hospital, where it was 

determined that Student had experienced another seizure. At this time, Student was 

placed on anti-seizure medication. Student did not return to school after this incident. 

Father credibly testified that he did not return Student to school at this time because 

Student was adjusting to the seizure medication and needed to be monitored. School 

nurse Katherine Waugh testified that many students who are starting or adjusting to 

anti-seizure medication miss approximately three weeks of school.13 

 
13 Katherine Waugh, RN, has a RN from St. Luke’s School of Nursing, an 

undergraduate degree in nursing with a minor in education and a master’s degree in 

community health nursing. She is a Clinical Nurse Specialist and has a Public Health 
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35. Parents and the District communicated regarding supporting Student in 

the classroom given his seizures. Parents wanted a one-to-one aide placed in the 

classroom to support Student and the District felt that Student did not need the services 

on a one-to-one aide in the SDC class. The District indicated on April 26, 2012, that they 

were in the process of setting up an IEP team meeting to discuss Student’s seizure 

needs, the issue of the one-to-one aide and any other issues regarding Student. The 

District scheduled an IEP team meeting for May 4, 2012, which was rescheduled to May 

31, 2012, due to Student’s seizure activity on May 3 and 4, 2012.  

Home-hospital Instruction  

36. In order for a student eligible for special education to be placed by the IEP 

team on home-hospital instruction, the student must provide a note, signed by a 

physician stating the diagnosed condition, and certifying that the condition prevents the 

student from attending a lesser restrictive placement, and a projected calendar date for 

the student’s return to school. Student contends that the District denied him FAPE by 

not placing him on home-hospital instruction at the May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting. 

Student did not provide a note to the District containing the required elements at the 

time of the May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting. Therefore, Student did not meet his burden 

to show that the District’s failure to place him on home-hospital instruction denied him 

a FAPE.14  

 
Nurse Credential. She retired from the District last year after 28 years as a school nurse 

for the District.  

14 The District held another IEP team meeting for Student on June 8, 2012, which 

Student did not challenge in this hearing. Even if the District’s failure to place Student 

on home-hospital instruction at the May 31, 2012, resulted in a denial of FAPE for 
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NOTES FROM PHYSICIANS 

37. Father provided the District a note from Todd Lewis, M.D., dated May 1, 

2012. This note stated “This is to certify that the above named patient is under my 

professional care. Please excuse [Student’s] absence from 4/24-5/4/2012 due to his 

recent seizure activity. [Student] may return to school on Monday 5/7/2012 if he has 

stabilized on his medication and remains seizure free.” 

38. Student was hospitalized after more seizure activity on May 3 and 4, 2012. 

Parents provided the District a note from the Lucile Packard Children’s Hospital dated 

May 4, 2012, which states “[Student] was hospitalized at Lucile Packard Children’s 

Hospital from 5/3/2012 to 5/4/2012. He may return to school on: when parents prefer 

and on good medication control.” The signature on the note is unreadable and there is 

no printed indication on the letter as to the identity of the signer of the note, with the 

exception of the notation RN after the signature. Neither this note, nor the note from Dr. 

Lewis dated May 1, 2012, met the legal criteria to allow an IEP team to place a student 

on home-hospital instruction.15  

 
Student, the denial of FAPE would have only lasted until the next IEP team meeting, 

eight days later.  

15 During the hearing, the District took the position that Parents were not 

cooperative because they would not sign a release for District personnel to talk to 

Student’s doctors. Father testified credibly that he was not comfortable doing so 

because Student’s medical information is confidential and the records contain 

confidential medical history about Student and other family members, unrelated to 

Student’s education. He was not willing to sign a blanket waiver of this confidentiality. 

There is no legal requirement that Parents execute such a waiver and the District 

provided no authority in support of this contention.  
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MAY 31, 2012 IEP TEAM MEETING 

39. The IEP team met on May 31, 2012.16 The IEP team meeting was 

considered by the parties an “emergency” IEP team meeting, in response to Student’s 

seizure activity.17 At that IEP team meeting, the team discussed a variety of placement 

options. Parents expressed concerns about Student’s safety in both the school and bus 

environments. The school nurse explained home-hospital instruction and gave Parents 

the District policies. At the end of the IEP team meeting, the District offered aide 

support to Student for the entire school day, but no aide support on the school bus.  

40. At the time of the May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting, no physician’s report 

meeting the required conditions to permit home-hospital placement existed. Therefore, 

the District did not deny Student FAPE by failing to offer Student home-hospital 

instruction at the May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting because Parents failed to provide the 

District with the needed information.  

June 8, 2012 IEP Team Meeting 

41. The District held another IEP team meeting on June 8, 2012.18 The IEP 

contained a different offer of placement and services from the May 31, 2012 IEP, 

 
16 This decision makes no findings regarding the procedural or substantive 

appropriateness of the May 31, 2012, IEP, with the exception that the District’s failure to 

provide home-hospital instruction did not deny Student a FAPE. 

17 Neither the IDEA nor California Law contain any provisions regarding an 

“emergency IEP team meeting.”  

18 This decision makes no findings regarding the procedural or substantive 

appropriateness of the June 8, 2012, IEP.  
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including increased OT services and different goals and objectives. This is relevant in this 

matter only as it relates to the duration of the District’s May 31, 2012 IEP offer, which 

was superseded by the offer made at the June 8, 2012, IEP team meeting.  

Student’s Medical Condition after June 8, 2012 

42. Student had several seizures on July 4, 2012. The seizures were close in 

time and resulted in Student’s hospitalization. Student’s medication was increased and 

he experienced several side effects of the medication, including tantruming, sleep 

disturbances and a dull affect.  

43. Father testified that there were several triggers for Student’s seizures, 

including not getting enough sleep. By mid-summer 2012, Student was not able to fall 

asleep until midnight and was sleeping late into the morning. Parents tried a prescribed 

sleeping medication, which was ineffective. Parents were concerned that waking Student 

up to attend school in the morning could result in a seizure. 

44. On August 27, 2012, Father sent a letter to the District, which stated his 

concerns regarding the inadequacy of the District’s offer of placement. Father indicated 

that Student’s health condition was not good enough to attend school with the 

supports, placement and services the District had offered. Father attached a letter from 

Student’s neurologist, Dr. Christopher Lee-Messer. In a letter dated August 24, 2012, Dr. 

Lee-Messer wrote: “[Student] was seen in the Pediatric Neurology clinic on 8/24/2012 

for treatment of his epilepsy and circadian rhythm disruption. His seizures are now 

controlled on increased medication but his sleep is highly disrupted and along with his 

autism, he will require home instruction – likely for another 2-3 months – as his parents 

implement sleep training.” The letter was signed by Dr. Lee-Messer. 
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August 29, 2012 IEP Amendment 

45. The District did not hold an IEP team meeting when they received the note 

from Dr. Lee-Messer. Instead, the District sent Parents a letter and an IEP amendment 

form dated August 29, 2012.19 Father signed the amendment on September 10, 2012. 

The amendment offered Student home-hospital instruction of five hours per week, 

speech and language therapy of 60 minutes per week in the home and OT of 60 

minutes consult per month. The letter and IEP stated that the offer was temporary and 

for only 90 days from the date of the letter. 

Implementation of the August 29, 2012 Amendment 

46. When a student eligible for special education is placed by the IEP team on 

home-hospital instruction, the IEP team shall meet to reconsider the IEP prior to the 

projected calendar date for the student’s return to school. The teacher providing the 

home-hospital instruction is required to contact the student’s previous school and 

teacher to determine the course work to be covered, the books and materials to be 

used, and determine who is responsible for issuing grades and promoting the student 

when appropriate.  

47. The August 29, 2012, IEP amendment had three components: teaching, 

speech and language therapy, and OT consultation. Student alleges that the District did 

not implement the services in this amendment. The District admits that it did not deliver 

a portion of the services, but contends that they have agreed to make up some of the 

missed services and that they were not under an obligation to provide the services for 

 
19 This decision is only concerning the implementation of the August 29, 2012, IEP 

amendment. This decision makes no findings regarding any other procedural issues or 

the substantive appropriateness of the August 29, 2012 IEP amendment.  
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some of the time. The District also contends that the August 2012 amendment was only 

for 90 days and thus a temporary placement. The District claims that at the “expiration” 

of the IEP amendment, Student’s placement “reverted” to the June 8, 2012, IEP 

placement offer. The Student has met his burden to show that the District materially 

failed to implement the August 29, 2012, offer of placement and services and that this 

denied Student a FAPE. 

48. At the time the District offered the home-hospital instruction to Student, 

the District had made no efforts to secure the services of an appropriately credentialed 

special education teacher to provide the instruction, a speech therapist or an 

occupational therapist. Almost two weeks later, when Parent signed the IEP amendment, 

the District had not yet secured any providers for Student. Only after Parent signed the 

amendment did the District begin looking for providers. The District was obligated, at 

the time of the offer, to be ready and able to provide the services offered. In this case, 

the District unreasonably delayed the provision of services by waiting to locate providers 

and waiting for Parents and the services providers to work out a schedule without any 

District oversight.  

49. To locate a teacher for Student, Jennifer Keicher, special education 

director, sent a series of emails to District personnel, employees of the Special Education 

Local Plan Area (SELPA), and employees of neighboring school districts looking for a 

teacher who was already employed during the school day to provide the home-hospital 

services to Student. The District directed any interested teacher to contact Parents via 

email and arrange times for the services to be delivered.  

50. On September 13, 2012, Parents sent an email to Ms. Keicher wanting to 

know why the home-hospital instruction had not yet begun. There is no indication that 

Ms. Keicher replied to this email. Ms. Keicher testified that she had “trouble” finding 

home- hospital teachers.  
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51. Ms. Emily Kuglics, special education teacher, contacted Parents on 

September 14, 2012. She stated that her availability for providing instruction was 

Monday, Wednesday and Thursday after 5:00 p.m. Ms. Kuglics sent an email to Father 

indicating that she had spoken to Mother earlier on the same date as her email. The 

District claims that they never heard back from Parents regarding this proposal. Father 

credibly testified that the email was sent to an email address that he was not using and 

that it went to a mailbox that was generally filled with spam. Father claims he did not 

receive or read the email from Ms. Kuglics. After the email, the District did not follow up 

with any phone calls to Parents or other correspondence.  

52. On Monday, October 1, 2012, another special education teacher, Ms. Lynn 

Membrano, contacted Parents by phone and then email. She expressed that she was 

available Mondays, Wednesdays, and Thursdays at 3:30 p.m. for a one to two hour block 

of instruction and Tuesdays at 4:00 pm. for an hour to an hour and a half. The email 

ended with “Please let me know your availability.” 

53. Father responded to this email on October 2, 2012, stating “You may 

please come anytime that you mentioned in your email. I am glad School District is 

attempting to send somebody at last.” Father testified that although Student was 

receiving in-home ABA services during the afternoon, he had instructed his wife to 

change around the ABA times and make Student available to the teacher. Ms. 

Membrano testified that she had never received Father’s email and that both her email 

account and the District offsite archival email showed that Father’s email was never 

received. The evidence provided by both parties on this issue did not have a sufficient 

level of reliability to allow the ALJ to make a determination as to whether this email was 

sent or received. Therefore, this email was not considered when determining whether 

Parents were cooperating with the District. Whether or not Father’s email was timely 

received by the District, Mother was engaged and somewhat flexible in responding to 
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the speech and language therapist regarding Student’s availability in the days following 

the date of this purported email as discussed below in Factual Findings 55-59.  

54. The District maintains that Mother told them that Student was not 

available during at least some of the proposed teaching times because of his ABA 

therapy. The District provided no authority that Parents had any obligation to make 

Student available for instruction outside Student’s regular school hours, absent an 

agreement to do so. At no time did Parents offer a take-it-or-leave-it time period that 

Student was available. It was the District’s staff that had scheduling constraints.  

55. At the same time Ms. Membrano was contacting Parents, Mother was 

emailing regularly with Mr. Zack Buffum, who had offered to provide the speech and 

language therapy to Student pursuant to the home-hospital amendment from August 

29, 2012.20  

56. On September 28, 2012, Mr. Buffum sent an email to Parents stating that 

he would provide the speech and language services. He stated that his current 

availability for services was Tuesday and Thursday from 3:45 to 4:15 p.m. Father 

provided an email dated October 2, 2012, stating that Mr. Buffum could come during 

those times. Father testified that he told his wife to make Student available during these 

times. Mr. Buffum testified that he had no recollection of receiving this email, it was not 

located in his email account and that Father’s email was not located on the District 

archive. As discussed above concerning the email to Ms. Membrano, the evidence did 

not have a sufficient level of reliability to allow the ALJ to make a determination as to 

 
20 Mr. Zack Buffum has an undergraduate degree in communication disorders 

and a master’s degree in speech pathology. He is a licensed Speech and Language 

Pathologist. During the 2011-2012 SY, he was a speech therapist in the District. In the 

2012-2013 SY, Mr. Buffum was a program specialist for the District.  
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whether this email was sent or received. Therefore, this email was not considered when 

determining whether Parents were cooperating with the District.  

57. Mother responded to Mr. Buffum’s email on October 1, 2012, stating that 

Student was not available from 3 p.m. to 5 p.m. on Mondays, Tuesdays and Thursdays 

because he was receiving different therapy at that time. She asked for alternative 

schedules. Just a few minutes later, Mother sent another email stating that she had 

received an email from Student’s ABA therapist and Student was now free on Thursdays 

from 3 p.m. to 5 p.m. beginning the second week of October, 2012.  

58. Mr. Buffum replied on October 3, 2012, and stated that he was available 

on Thursdays from 3:45-4:15 pm with the exception of October 25, 2012, when he was 

scheduled to be at a conference. He also asked for an address and the start date 

Student was available. Mother replied that same day with her address and asked 

whether Mr. Buffum was available at different times on Thursdays and if 3:00 - 3:30 

would work. On October 8, 2012, Mr. Buffum replied and asked whether Student was 

available to start on October 11 or October 18 and stated that he could not make it any 

earlier than 3:45 pm. Mother replied that Student was available on October 11, 2012 at 

3:45. Mr. Buffum came to provide speech and language therapy to Student on October 

11, 2012.  

59. Mr. Buffum cancelled the October 18, 2012, session because he had a last 

minute conflict. Mr. Buffum testified that his job with the District was as a program 

specialist and that he often had to attend IEP team meetings that ran late. He also 

testified that he did not want to work too late so as to not upset his home life. Mr. 

Buffum was away at a conference on October 25, 2012, and did not provide speech 

therapy.  

60. Mother sent an email to Ms. Keicher on October 22, 2012. In that email, 

she notified the District that the home instruction had not yet begun and that the 
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speech therapist had only provided services one time. She stated that Student was 

available on Wednesday, Thursday and Friday afternoons and Friday evenings. Ms. 

Keicher emailed back on October 23, 2012, and stated: “From my understanding, two 

home-hospital teachers have contacted you and tried to set up a schedule. Both were 

not able to find a time that fit into [Student’s] schedule. Please specify your exact times 

and we will do our best to find a person. Note that our offer still stands, as Ms. 

Membrano is still offering to provide those services should [Student’s] schedule change. 

Regarding speech, apparently he was in an IEP that went long last week, Please know 

that all missed sessions will be offered a make-up. I will convey that to him as well.” 

61. Mother responded the next day and provided Student’s free time during 

the week as follows: 

“Monday and Tuesday 1:00 p.m. – 3:00 p.m. 

Wednesday 1:30 p.m. - 5:30 p.m. 

Thursday – 3:45 - 4:15 p.m. speech therapy scheduled with 

Mr. Buffum 

Friday 1:00 p.m. - 5:30 p.m.” 

62. Mother noted that at other times, Student was receiving ABA therapy and 

that if it was difficult to accommodate the teacher for the times she listed, to let her 

know and she could reschedule the conflicting therapy times. Ms. Keicher replied on 

October 25, 2012, that she would send this availability out to more people to see if 

someone could accommodate the schedule. On October 30, 2012, Ms. Keicher emailed 

Mother and told her that she found a teacher and that the teacher should be contacting 

her later in the week, as soon as the District got her paperwork in order. 
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63. The District’s attitude towards its obligation to provide Student with 

home-hospital services was cavalier. The District had the obligation to provide the 

services within a reasonable period after Parents agreed to the offer on September 10, 

2012. In this case, the District wanted Parents to make Student available outside regular 

school hours and when Student had other therapies scheduled. The District acted as if 

Parents were unreasonable in not accommodating its teachers’ limited availability. 

Student did have a schedule that was rather full with therapy, but Parents continually 

showed a willingness to change Student’s therapy schedules and work with the District. 

The same was not true for the first two teachers the District identified and Mr. Buffum. 

The District did not present any authority that required Parents to make Student 

available for instruction outside the Student’s regular school day and in the evenings. 

While there is nothing preventing a parent and a district from agreeing to home-

hospital services after school hours, in the evening or on weekends, the District was 

unreasonable in insisting that Parents agree to times outside the student’s regular 

school day.  

64. Ms. Ashley Cheechoo contacted Parents on November 1, 2012, and 

offered to come to the home on Mondays from 1:00 pm to 3:30 pm and Wednesdays 

from 3:00pm to 5:30 pm. She asked if Mother could change Student’s schedule to 

accommodate the later time on Mondays. Mother replied that she would. Ms. Cheechoo 

was not called by either party as a witness, and there was no testimony about any 

instruction she gave to Student. The District contends that the home-hospital teacher 

services were delivered in November and December, until the Winter Break. Parent did 

not dispute this contention.  

65. Mr. Buffum cancelled his speech and language therapy session with 

Student on November 1, 2012, because of illness and November 8, 2012, because of an 

emergency meeting. He came two times in October and once in November, each time 
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for less than an hour. Neither Mr. Buffum, nor any other speech therapist met with 

Student again through March 28, 2013. 

66. The District did not schedule the required IEP team meeting prior to the 

expected expiration of Dr. Lee-Messer’s initial letter requesting home-hospital for 

Student. On November 13, 2012, Ms. Keicher wrote to Parents and told them that the 

District’s offer of home-hospital ended on November 29, 2012, unless she received a 

new recommendation from a physician. By the date of Ms. Keicher’s email, the District 

had provided two half hour sessions of speech and language services, the occupational 

therapist provided some minimal consultation services in October and the teacher had 

provided about 10 hours of instruction to Student during the entirety of the 2012-2013 

SY. Parents wrote back on November 14, 2012, reminding Ms. Keicher that the services 

only just started and that Ms. Cheechoo had told them that she would be working with 

Student until the winter break. 

67. Ms. Keicher testified that she did not receive a physician’s note in response 

to her November 13, 2012, correspondence, but decided to provide services through 

December in anticipation of a note. Father testified that it was very difficult to get an 

appointment with Dr. Lee-Messer and that Dr. Lee-Messer would not write a note 

without seeing and evaluating Student. Without holding an IEP team meeting, the 

District stopped all services in January 2013. On February 5, 2013, Dr. Lee-Messer faxed 

a note to the District. The District determined that this note met the requirements for a 

home-hospital note and placed Student on home-hospital instruction. The home- 

hospital teaching services began again on approximately February 13, 2013, with no IEP 

team meeting or amendment. At that time, Ms. Kristine Carlos was assigned to be 

Student’s teacher. Ms. Carlos was not called by either party to testify in the hearing and 

no evidence was provided about the services she delivered to Student.  
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68. The District held an annual IEP team meeting for Student on March 15, 

2013. The District made an offer that it contended was for the 2013-2014 SY, as Student 

was on home-hospital instruction for the balance of the 2012-2013 SY.21 The District 

then sent Parents an amendment on March 28, 2013, that continued home-hospital 

instruction for the remainder of the 2012-2013 SY.22 Parents signed this amendment on 

April 2, 2013. Therefore, the IEP amendment of March 28, 2013, is considered a new 

offer of placement and services and any claim regarding implementation of the August 

29, 2012, IEP ended on March 28, 2012, when the new offer was made.  

69. The District’s claim that their obligation to provide home-hospital 

pursuant to the August 29, 2012 IEP was temporary and ended 90 days after August 29, 

2012, is not consistent with the law. The District was provided a note in August that 

provided for home instruction for two to three months. The District was obligated to 

hold an IEP prior to the expiration of that note, which was as early as October 2012, and 

to make another offer of placement or services to Student, which could include 

additional home-hospital instruction, if supported by proper documentation. Further, 

the school nurse, Katherine Waugh, testified that before a Student may return from 

home-hospital instruction there must be a release from the physician allowing the 

student to return to school. There was no such release in this case. The District arbitrarily 

continued services through December and declined to provide services in January and 

the first part of February, all without an IEP team meeting. The District’s contention that 

Student’s placement reverted back to its June 2012 offer of placement is without legal 

 
21 This decision makes no findings regarding the procedural or substantive 

appropriateness of the March 15, 2013, IEP. 

22 This decision makes no findings regarding the procedural or substantive 

appropriateness of the March 28, 2013, IEP amendment.  
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support. Further, the District’s continued provision of services to Student after 

November 29, 2012, in the home defeats this argument. Home-hospital instruction for 

Students eligible for special education is an IEP placement and an IEP team meeting is 

required for any change of placement to be considered. The District failed to hold a 

follow-up IEP team meeting to discuss Student’s 2012-2013 placement until the 

amendment was sent to parents on March 28, 2013. 

70. From September 10, 2012, until March 28, 2013, the District contends that 

it provided Student with 12 weeks of teaching instruction and missed 13 weeks of 

instruction, per the school calendar. The Student was to receive an hour of speech 

therapy a week and the District admits that Student received less than 3 hours of speech 

therapy from September 10, 2012 until March 28, 2013. Student was supposed to 

receive one hour of OT consultation a month and the District admits that it only had an 

occupational therapist assigned to Student in October and November. This alone is a 

material failure to implement Student’s August 29, 2012, IEP, which resulted in a denial 

of FAPE.  

SDC TEACHER AND OT CONSULTATION 

71. The involvement of a student’s regular teacher is critical and mandated as 

part of home-hospital instruction for students with disabilities. The consultation is 

important to ensure that while on home-hospital instruction, Student will continue in 

the curriculum from his classroom and that there is a plan for tracking and reporting on 

a student’s progress. Even when the District provided instruction and OT services to 

Student, it still materially failed to implement the August 29, 2012, IEP amendment. Any 

teaching that the District did provide in November and December 2012, and from 

beginning February 13, 2013, through March 28, 2013, did not meet the requirements of 

the relevant regulation. Mrs. Broumas, Student’s SDC teacher, testified that no one 

contacted her during the entire 2012-2013 SY regarding Student’s educational program 
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and that she has not been involved with Student’s educational program. The District did 

not call either of the home-hospital instructors to refute this statement. The failure to 

provide services and the failure to properly consult with the SDC teacher when the 

services were provided establish another material failure to implement Student’s IEP of 

August 29, 2012.  

72. Student’s occupational therapist from the 2011-2012 SY, Ms. Smita 

Chandru, was assigned to provide the consultation OT services as part of the home-

hospital IEP amendment. She testified that she was to provide OT consultation to 

Student’s teachers, therapists and Parents so that these providers could implement OT 

strategies for Student throughout his day. She provided some very limited consultation 

in October and November 2012, and did not provide consultation OT services again to 

Student until May 2013.23 Another occupational therapist delivered 40 minutes of OT 

consultation in April 2013.  

73. Ms. Chandru testified that she never made a home visit to implement her 

OT consultation services throughout the entire 2012-2013 SY. Less credibly, she testified 

that she consulted with Mother who asked her a few questions and that she gave 

Mother a few ideas, and also consulted with the rest of the team working with Student 

at home, including Zack Buffum and Ms. Membrano. However, Ms. Membrano never 

worked with Student and there was no teacher assigned and working with Student in 

October 2012, one of the only months Ms. Chandru stated she gave the consultation 

services. The evidence did not establish that Ms. Chandru consulted with Ms. Cheechoo, 

Student’s home-hospital instructor in November 2012. Mr. Buffum provided only a small 

percentage of the speech services Student was entitled to and did not testify that he 

 
23 The decision makes no findings regarding the appropriateness of the District’s 

consultation only OT offer.  
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ever implemented any OT strategies with Student. Ms. Chandru testified that she had 

email records of her consultation with Mother, but the District did not provide these 

emails. Overall, Ms. Chandru was not credible and her testimony regarding the provision 

of OT consultation was not persuasive.  

74. Student effectively received no OT consultation during the limited times 

Ms. Chandru was available. She did not consult with the teacher who actually delivered 

instruction to Student in October and November and did not return until after the 

March 28, 2013, IEP amendment was effective. Student, therefore, did not have the 

benefit of the daily OT interventions that would have been delivered by his teacher, 

speech therapist and Parents, and Student is entitled to direct compensatory OT services 

and consultation OT services to make up for this failure to provide consultation services 

75. Student met his burden to show that the District failed to implement the 

home- hospital instruction for the entire duration of the August 29, 2012, amendment 

(until March 28, 2013) because it did not comply with the home-hospital regulation 

regarding consultation with Student’s teacher. The District’s failure to implement the 

teaching portion of the August 29, 2012, amendment was material and resulted in a 

denial of FAPE to Student. Student met his burden to show that the District did not 

implement the IEP amendment from August 29, 2012, as to OT for Student. This material 

failure to implement resulted in a denial of FAPE for Student. Student was denied FAPE 

from the date Parent signed the amendment, September 10, 2012, until the next IEP 

amendment was offered on March 28, 2013.  

Student’s present levels of performance as noted in the March 15, 2013 IEP 

76. Student’s present levels of performance are listed in the IEP document 

dated March 15, 2013. Neither party called Ms. Cheechoo, Student’s home-hospital 

instructor in November and December 2012, to testify. To the extent that Student’s 

present levels of performance are relevant to a determination of remedies, they will be 
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considered in conjunction with all other information available about Student from the 

documentary and testimonial evidence from the hearing. 24  

77. The IEP document from March 15, 2013, details present levels of 

performance for Student submitted by Ms. Cheechoo in February 2013.25 She noted that 

Student still had significant needs in the areas of communication, generalization of 

academic skills, and emotional regulation. The report indicates that Student was still 

being spoon fed by an adult and was not feeding himself unless given time and 

opportunity. She suggested that the IEP team consider moving away from academic 

goals and focus more on life skills that will facilitate Student’s independence. She noted 

that Student struggled with colors, shapes and identifying letters in his name. He was 

inconsistent and seemed to have trouble scanning and maintaining attention to task. 

Some days Student seemed to master the color concepts of red and blue and then on 

another day, there was no evidence of mastery. He could pick out a circle from a field of 

two items. He could not match K and A under random rotation. He mastered matching 

numbers one and two. This clearly shows a significant regression from the present levels 

of performance in the February 2012, IEP as outlined in Factual Finding 14.  

78. From a communication development perspective, Ms. Cheechoo noted 

that Student was non-verbal. He did not have any oral/vocal language that could be 

understood by anyone other than family members, and they could not understand him 

all of the time. He used gesturing, pointing, grunting, tugging or pulling when he 

wanted to communicate. He whined and cried when upset and frustrated. He did not 

have a communication system that was functional for him in the home, where his 

 
24 No assessments from 2013 were presented as evidence in the hearing. 

25 It is noted that Ms. Cheechoo stopped working with Student in mid-December 

2012. 
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instruction was taking place. Ms. Porter also gave an update in the area of 

communication development for Student. She noted that she had not seen student in 

therapy since April 2012 and at that time Student could use word approximations, 

signing and a simple communication board to express his wants and needs. It is noted 

here that Ms. Cheechoo did not see Student as able to do any of these tasks seven to 

eight months later, after the District failed to implement the speech and language 

services from the August 29, 2012, IEP amendment.  

Remedies 

79. The District failed to provide Student FAPE by predetermining the March 

29, 2012, offer. Overall, the District admitted that it did not provide Student with many 

of the services from the program and placement specified in the August 29, 2012, 

amendment. The District did little to ensure the actual delivery of the services to Student 

and failed to timely provide make-up services when sessions were missed. Student has a 

moderately severe disability and has intense needs in the areas of academics, functional 

skills, communication and OT. The District took the position that after effectively missing 

months of services, by their own count, their only obligation to Student was to make up 

for the missed hours at some point in the future. The District did not take into account 

Student’s individual needs when taking this position. 

80. Student put on limited evidence regarding the ABA therapy from CARD 

that he received from March 29, 2012, through the date of the hearing. Parents’ medical 

insurance covered a great portion of the costs of the program and the billings are 

confusing and the evidence did not provide all of the information necessary to allow the 

ALJ to craft a remedy for reimbursement of the ABA services Parents have already 

obtained. 

81. Student did not put on any evidence regarding a NPA or non-public 

school (NPS) placement for Student as a compensatory remedy. Besides being unable to 
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order a program without specific information regarding the program, it is unclear when 

and if Student will be able to attend school or make a bus ride due to seizure activity. 

82. The Student met his burden that the District denied him FAPE from March 

29, 2012, through May 31, 2012, and from September 10, 2012, through March 28, 2013. 

Student was denied a FAPE for 167 school days. The District’s calendars show that this is 

closely equivalent to an entire SY. Missing an entire year of education has a tremendous 

impact on any student and on this Student in particular. There was no evidence that the 

District’s “plan” of simply doubling up on the District’s FAPE offer by offering 

compensatory services at some future date would equitably compensate the Student, 

especially given the difficulty the District has in locating providers.  

83. Compensatory education is not intended to be awarded based on a one-

to-one ratio for services missed, it is awarded based upon a Student’s individual needs 

considering the individual facts of the case. Student’s intense needs present a picture of 

a child who needs intensive intervention to make educational progress. Student has a 

documented history of regression and still has behaviors similar to a toddler. In this 

matter, Student was denied a FAPE for almost an entire SY and, based upon the severity 

of Student’s needs and the length and breadth of the denial of FAPE, Student is entitled 

to a SY’s worth of instruction. Therefore, based upon Student’s unique needs and the 

facts of this case, Student is entitled to 167 days of compensatory educational services, 

for services that are to be delivered daily and, based on a five school day week, 34 

weeks of compensatory educational services for services delivered weekly. While this is 

one day for every day Student missed, the services that will be delivered during these 

days and the amount delivered is required to be greater than simply the amount of 

services previously listed in Student’s IEP’s because one-to-one compensatory services 

would equitably, fairly and justly compensate him for the denial of FAPE. Student’s 
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needs dictate more than one-to-one compensatory services for the missed and 

ineffective services.  

84. Both Patricia Strass, M.A., BCBA and Dr. Korb recommended an ABA 

program for Student. The report from Ms. Cheechoo, included in the March 15, 2013, 

IEP document discusses some of the areas that the ABA therapists are working on 

including oral motor exercises, introduction of the Picture Exchange Communication 

System communication system, and use of a computer tablet. The program described in 

the September 2011 CARD report targets areas of need for Student that are still deficits 

as noted in the March 15, 2013, IEP document. ABA services are an appropriate 

compensatory remedy for Student because of his need for intensive instruction for 

communication, behavioral and functional skills.  

85. The District acknowledged, as early as October 2012, that Student was 

entitled to some make-up services for the home-hospital services that it had not 

delivered by that time. However, the District made no attempts to begin make-up 

services until after Student’s complaint was filed. Although the District indicated in the 

hearing that some of the services might have been made up after March 28, 2013, the 

District was unclear about exactly what services were made up and had no specific plan 

for delivery of these services. There was no evidence that the teacher making up services 

was consulting with the SDC teacher. If Student was already receiving one hour of OT 

consult as a part of his program, it is unclear how arbitrarily adding another hour of 

consultation would benefit Student. Student’s speech and language services should be 

delivered and monitored over time, not all pushed into a short period of time that works 

for the District’s calendar. Additionally, any services that the District determined it was 

providing as make-up services were at the District’s own risk. Any services the District 

provided as make-up services will not be subtracted from this award as there was no 
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evidence that any make up services were consistent with the requirements of the law or 

appropriately delivered to Student.  

86. This decision makes no determination regarding an appropriate 

educational program for Student prospectively in the 2013-2014 SY. However, as 

compensatory education, the District must deliver Student’s intensive compensatory 

educational services during extended school years (ESY).  

87. Student will be provided with three hours a day of ABA services for a total 

of 167 days, plus all related supervisory hours and clinic hours. This represents one day 

of ABA services for each day that Student was denied FAPE and will assist Student in 

working on functional skills, behavior and communication. This can be in addition to the 

ABA services obtained and paid for through Parents’ insurance. The District shall 

contract with the same ABA provider Parents contract with for the insurance based 

services, as long as the ABA provider is a California certified non-public agency. Parents 

may decrease or cease insurance based ABA services during the time period that the 

District provides the services, but are under no obligation to do so. 

88. Student will also be provided with one hour per day of home instruction 

from a credentialed special education teacher for 167 days. These hours can be 

combined during one week for a total of five hours per week for scheduling 

convenience, taking into account Student’s ability to manage the length of instructional 

time periods. The teacher shall be available during the regular school day and shall be a 

properly credentialed special education teacher. If Parents want to take advantage of 

this service, Parents shall make student available during the regular school day. The 

District shall take into account Student’s ABA schedule and all parties will cooperate to 

find agreeable times for teaching during regular school hours. This teacher can provide 

some services at the same time as the ABA services to allow for consultation between 

the providers to ensure a more seamless program for Student. Nothing in this order 
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prohibits the parties from mutually agreeing to provide the teaching services outside 

the school day, in the evening or on weekends. The home instruction teacher shall 

consult with Student’s SDC teacher. 

89. The District will provide Student with 68 hours of speech and language 

therapy delivered individually for two hours per week by District personnel or an NPA, at 

the District’s choice. The District will provide 15 minutes per week of OT consult for 34 

weeks and 34 hours of individual OT. Given Student’s clear need for OT, as 

demonstrated by the both the evidence and the District’s offers of individual OT in every 

IEP to Student, with the exception of the home-hospital amendments, the individual OT 

is ordered in addition to the consultation to ensure that Student is able to attain the 

benefit he would have received had the OT consultation services been implemented 

with fidelity. This may be done by District staff or an NPA at the District’s choice.  

90. All of Student’s compensatory services will take place during the District’s 

summer breaks (ESY). These services will be delivered starting no later than July 25, 

2013, and continue until the last Friday before the beginning of the 2013-2014 SY. The 

services will begin again the Monday after the end of the 2013-2014 SY and continue 

until the last Friday before the 2014-2015 SY starts. If Parents choose to take a vacation 

during any of the time periods, the hours will not be counted and the time will accrue. If 

there are still compensatory hours at the end of the 2015 ESY, the services will continue 

into the ESY for the 2015-2016 SY and beyond. Any provider cancellations will be 

credited to Student. Student absences with less than 24 hours notice will not be credited 

to Student. Prescheduled student absences and absences with more than 24 hours 

notice will be credited to Student.  

91. These services are all compensatory in nature and do not end if Student 

moves out of the District or ages out of the District before the services are completed.  
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LEGAL CONCLUSIONS 

BURDEN OF PROOF 

1. Because Student filed the request for due process hearing, he had the 

burden of proving the essential elements of his claims. (Schaffer v. Weast (2005) 546 U.S. 

49, 62 [163 L.Ed.2d 387].) 

ELEMENTS OF A FAPE 

2. Under the IDEA and California law, children with disabilities have the right 

to a FAPE. (20 U.S.C. § 1400(d); Ed. Code, § 56000.) The term “free appropriate public 

education” means special education and related services that (A) have been provided at 

public expense, under public supervision and direction, and without charge; (B) meet the 

standards of the state educational agency; (C) include an appropriate preschool, 

elementary school, or secondary school education in the state involved; and (D) are 

provided in conformity with the IEP required under section 1414(d) of title 20 of the 

United States Code. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(9).). “Special education” is instruction specially 

designed to meet the unique needs of a child with a disability. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(a)(29).) 

3. There are two parts to the legal analysis of a school district's compliance 

with the IDEA. First, the tribunal must determine whether the district has complied with 

the procedures set forth in the IDEA. Second, the tribunal must decide whether the IEP 

developed through those procedures was designed to meet the child’s unique needs, 

and was reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational benefit. (Board 

of Educ. of Hendrick Hudson Cent. Sch. Dist. v. Rowley (1982) 458 U.S. 176, 206-207 [102 

S.Ct. 3034, 73 L.Ed.2d 690] (Rowley).) 

4. In Rowley, the Supreme Court recognized the importance of adherence to 

the procedural requirements of the IDEA. (Rowley, supra, at pp. 205-06.) However, a 

procedural error does not automatically require a finding that a FAPE was denied. Since 
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July 1, 2005, the IDEA has codified the pre-existing rule that a procedural violation 

results in a denial of a FAPE only if the violation: (1) impeded the child’s right to a FAPE; 

(2) significantly impeded the parent’s opportunity to participate in the decision-making 

process; or (3) caused a deprivation of educational benefits. (20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii); 

see, Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (f)(2); W.G. v. Board of Trustees of Target Range School 

Dist. No. 23 (9th Cir. 1992) 960 F.2d 1479, 1484.) 

5. An IEP is evaluated in light of information available to the IEP team at the 

time it was developed; it is not judged in hindsight. (Adams v. Oregon (9th Cir. 1999) 

195 F.3d 1141, 1149.) An IEP "is a snapshot, not a retrospective.” (Id. at p. 1149, quoting 

Fuhrmann v. East Hanover Bd. of Educ., supra, 993 F.2d at p. 1041.) An IEP must be 

evaluated in terms of what was objectively reasonable when it was developed. (Ibid.; see 

also Carlisle Area School v. Scott P. (3d Cir. 1995) 62 F.3d 520, 534; Roland M. v. Concord 

School Comm. (1st Cir. 1990) 910 F.2d 983, 992, cert. denied, 499 U.S. 912 (1991).) 

Predetermination  

6. Predetermination occurs when an educational agency has decided on its 

offer prior to the IEP team meeting, including when it presents one placement option at 

the meeting and is unwilling to consider other alternatives. (Deal v. Hamilton County Bd. 

Of Educ. (6th Cir. 2004) 392 F.3d 840, 858.) A district may not arrive at an IEP team 

meeting with a “take it or leave it” offer. (JG v. Douglas County School Dist., supra, 552 

F.3d 786, 801, fn. 10.) However, school officials do not predetermine an IEP simply by 

meeting to discuss a child’s programming in advance of an IEP team meeting. (N.L. v. 

Knox County Schs., supra, 315 F.3d at p. 693, fn. 3.) 

Attendance of Parents at an IEP team meeting 

7. Federal and state law require that parents of a child with a disability must 

be afforded an opportunity to participate in meetings with respect to the identification, 
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assessment, educational placement, and provision of a FAPE to their child. (20 U.S.C. § 

1414(d)(1)(B)(i); Ed. Code, §§ 56304, 56342.5.) A district must ensure that the parent of a 

student who is eligible for special education and related services is a member of any 

group that makes decisions on the educational placement of the student. (Ed. Code, § 

56342.5.) Among the most important procedural safeguards are those that protect the 

parents’ right to be involved in the development of their child’s educational plan. 

(Amanda J. v. Clark County Sch. Dist. (9th Cir. 2001) 267 F.3d 877, 882.) An IEP team 

meeting may be conducted without a parent or guardian in attendance if the local 

educational agency is unable to convince the parent or guardian that he or she should 

attend. (Educ. Code section 56341.5(h).) 

8. An agency cannot eschew its affirmative duties under the IDEA by blaming 

the parents. (See Anchorage Sch. Dist. V. M.P. (9th Cir. 2012) 689 F.3d 1047, 1055. 

“[P]articipating educational agencies cannot excuse their failure to satisfy the IDEA’s 

procedural requirements by blaming the parents.”) See also W.G. v. Bd. Of Trs. Of Target 

Range Sch. Dist. No. 23, 960 F.2d 1479, 1485, holding that the school district could not 

blame parents’ choice to leave an IEP meeting for its own failure to create an IEP with 

the participation of the appropriate parties. If a parent refuses to attend or is entirely 

unresponsive to the agency’s requests to meet, the agency has a duty to move forward 

with the IEP process. (K.D. v. Dep’t of Educ., 665 F.3d 1110, 1124 (9th Cir. 2011).  

Procedural Violations 

9. When confronted with the situation of complying with one procedural 

requirement of the IDEA or another, the agency must make a reasonable determination 

of which course of action promotes the purposes of the IDEA and is least likely to result 

in the denial of a FAPE. In reviewing an agency’s action in such a scenario, the agency is 

allowed reasonable latitude in making that determination. (Doug v. Hawaii Dept. of 

Educ. (9th Cir. 2013) ___ F.3d ___, 2013 WL 2631518.) 
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10. Under the IDEA, in matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing 

officer may find that a child did not receive a FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies 

impeded the child’s right to a FAPE; significantly impeded the parents’ opportunity to 

participate in the decision making process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the 

parents’ child; or caused a deprivation of educational benefits. (20 U.S.C. 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii).)  

11. California has enacted a similar statute that requires in a hearing 

conducted pursuant to this section, the hearing officer shall not base a decision solely 

on nonsubstantive procedural errors, unless the hearing officer finds that the 

nonsubstantive procedural errors resulted in the loss of an educational opportunity to 

the pupil or interfered with the opportunity of the parent or guardian of the pupil to 

participate in the formulation process of the IEP. (Educ. Code section 56505(j).) 

12. Procedural inadequacies that result in the loss of educational opportunity 

or seriously infringe on the parents’ opportunity to participate in the IEP formulation 

process clearly result in the denial of a FAPE. (Shapiro v Paradise Valley Unified Sch. Dist. 

(9th Cir. 2003) 317 F.3d 1072, 1078. See also Amanda J. v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., (9th Cir. 

2001) 267 F.3d 877, 892.) A procedural error results in the denial of educational 

opportunity where, absent the error, there is a “strong likelihood” that alternative 

educational possibilities for the student “would have been better considered.” (M.L. v. 

Federal Way Sch. Dist. (9th Cir. 2003) 394 F.3d 634, 657 (Gould, J. concurring in part and 

concurring in the judgment).) Thus, an IEP team’s failure to properly consider an 

alternative educational plan can result in a lost educational opportunity even of the 

student cannot definitively demonstrate that his placement would have been different 

but for the procedural error. (Id.) 
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ISSUE I: DID THE DISTRICT UNILATERALLY PREDETERMINE STUDENT’S IEP IN AN IEP 
OFFER DATED MARCH 29, 2012, WHICH DENIED STUDENT A FAPE?  

13. Based on Factual Findings 13-32 and Legal Conclusions 1-12, Student met 

his burden to show that the District predetermined its March 29, 2012, placement offer. 

The District did not complete the February 26, 2012, IEP team meeting, including 

considering Dr. Korb’s report, discussing the goals and discussing and making an offer 

for placement and services. While Parents declined further attendance at an IEP team 

meeting, this did not absolve the District of its responsibility to continue the IEP process 

and ensure parental participation to the extent possible. Prior to any offer of placement 

and services, the District was required to complete the IEP team meeting.  

14. The District unilaterally determined the IEP offer outside an IEP team 

meeting without a discussion between the IEP team members and before the conclusion 

of the IEP team meeting. Therefore, the District predetermined all parts of the IEP that 

were not discussed at the February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting when it sent Parents the 

take-it-or-leave-it offer of placement in the March 29, 2012 letter and accompanying IEP 

documents. This resulted in a procedural violation to Student from the date of the 

March 29, 2012, IEP team meeting until the next IEP team meeting held on May 31, 

2012.  

15. Also, the District should have noticed and actually held an IEP meeting 

because this would have given Parents notice that the District intended to hold an IEP 

team meeting for Student and it would have given Parents one last opportunity to 

participate in the IEP team meeting. Compliance with the requirement to hold an IEP 

team meeting promotes the purposes of the IDEA to a much greater extent and was less 

likely to result in a denial of FAPE for Student than the requirement to have a placement 

offer for Parents to consider.  
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16. This procedural violation significantly impeded parental participation in 

the IEP process to the extent that parental participation was possible given Parents 

refusal to attend the continuation of the IEP team meeting. The IEP team should have 

met and finished considering the goals with the parental input from the proposed goals 

Parents sent the District prior to the February 16, 2012, IEP team meeting. The IEP team 

should have finished considering Dr. Korb’s report as well. These failures seriously 

infringed on parental participation in the IEP process and the result is that the 

procedural violation denied Student a FAPE from March 29, 2012, through May 31, 2012.  

17. Additionally, a procedural violation can also result in a denial of FAPE 

under the IDEA if the violation resulted in a deprivation of educational benefits. Student 

did not meet his burden to show that there was a deprivation of educational benefit to 

Student between March 29, 2012, and May 31, 2012, which was caused by the District’s 

predetermination of Student’s placement and services. However, California and Ninth 

Circuit case law expand that standard and do not require a substantive finding of a 

deprivation of educational benefit but instead a loss of educational opportunity.  

18. Had the IEP meeting actually been completed by the IEP team in which the 

members considered the report from Dr. Korb, there is a strong likelihood that the goals 

and the placement and service offer would have been more thoroughly considered. This 

is evidenced by the fact that these were considered when the IEP team met again to 

complete the IEP on June 8, 2012. Therefore, the predetermination procedural violation 

denied Student an educational opportunity by causing Dr. Korb’s report, the goals and 

the placement offer to receive insufficient consideration, and the District denied Student 

FAPE from March 29, 2012, through May 31, 2012. 

Home-hospital Instruction  

19. Home-hospital instructional services are part of the continuum of special 

education placements and programs that each SELPA must make available to pupils 
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who receive special education. (34 C.F.R. § 300.115(b)(1); see also Ed. Code, §§ 56360, 

56361.) Special education and related services may be provided in the home or hospital 

if the IEP team recommends such instruction or services. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3051.4, 

subd. (a).) For pupils with disabilities who have a medical condition “such as those 

related to surgery, accidents, short-term illness or medical treatment for a chronic 

illness,” the IEP team must review, and, if appropriate, revise the IEP “whenever there is a 

significant change in the pupil’s current medical condition.” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 

3051.4, subd. (c).) When recommending placement for home instruction, the IEP team 

must have a “medical report from the attending physician and surgeon or the report of 

the psychologist, as appropriate, stating the diagnosed condition and certifying that the 

severity of the condition prevents the pupil from attending a less restrictive placement.” 

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3051.4, subd. (d).)  

20. When a Student is placed on home-hospital instruction, the IEP team shall 

meet to reconsider the IEP prior to the projected calendar date for the pupil's return to 

school. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 3051.4, subd. (d).) The teacher providing the home 

instruction shall contact the pupil's previous school and teacher to determine the course 

work to be covered; the books and materials to be used; and who is responsible for 

issuing grades and promoting the pupil when appropriate. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 

3051.4, subd. (f).)  

ISSUE II: DID THE DISTRICT DENY STUDENT A FAPE AT AN IEP TEAM MEETING ON 
MAY 31, 2012, BY DENYING PARENTS’ REQUEST FOR HOME-HOSPITAL 
INSTRUCTION BECAUSE OF STUDENT’S MEDICATION? 

21. Based on Factual Findings 33-41 and Legal Conclusions 1-5, 9-12, and 19-

20, Student did not meet his burden to show that the District denied him FAPE by failing 

to place him on home-hospital instruction at the May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting. An 

IEP team can recommend that home-hospital instruction is appropriate for a student 
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eligible for special education with medical needs. However, the team shall have a 

medical report from the attending physician, surgeon or psychologist stating the 

diagnosed condition, certifying that the severity of the condition prevents the student 

from attending a less restrictive placement, and the report must include a projected 

calendar date for the pupil’s return to school. In this case, there was no report from a 

physician, surgeon or psychologist that met the legal requirements for placement on 

home-hospital instruction. Therefore, the District did not deny Student FAPE as of the 

May 31, 2012, IEP team meeting for denying Student’s unsupported request.  

IEP Implementation 

22. A school district violates the IDEA if it materially fails to implement a 

child’s IEP. A material failure occurs when there is more than a minor discrepancy 

between the services provided to a disabled child and those required by the IEP. (Van 

Duyn v. Baker School Dist. (9th Cir. 2007) 502 F.3d 811, 815.) For example, a brief gap in 

the delivery of services may not be a material failure. (Sarah Z. v. Menlo Park City School 

Dist. (N.D.Cal. May 30, 2007, No. C 06-4098 PJH) 2007 WL 1574569, p. 7.) 

ISSUE III: DID THE DISTRICT DENY STUDENT A FAPE FOR THE 2012-2013 SY BY 
NOT PROVIDING HIM WITH HOME-HOSPITAL INSTRUCTION AND RELATED SERVICES 
FOLLOWING AN AUGUST 29, 2012 AGREEMENT, THAT IT WOULD DO SO?  

23. Based on Factual Findings 42-78 and Legal Conclusions 1-5 and 22, 

Student met his burden to show that the District failed to implement home-hospital 

instruction and related services following the August 29, 2012, IEP amendment. As 

discussed above in the factual findings, the District failed to secure reliable and available 

service providers for Student. Even after the speech and language therapist was secured, 

only a fraction of the services Student was entitled to were delivered. There was no 

teaching for September and October 2012, and January and part of February 2013. The 
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District also failed to have the teachers appropriately consult with the Student’s SDC 

teacher, Ms. Broumas, which resulted in a wholesale failure to implement the home-

hospital teaching during the entire relevant period. The District ceased all services to 

Student in January 2013, and this lasted until February 13, 2013. Student was provided 

with less than three hours of speech and language therapy when he was entitled to an 

hour per week of speech and language therapy. Finally, Student’s OT consultation did 

not occur during many of the months and when it did occur, the occupational therapist 

did not consult with Student’s actual teacher at any point. Alone, each of these failures 

are not material. Together, the failures are material and result in a finding that the 

District denied Student FAPE from August 29, 2012, through March 28, 2013.  

Remedies 

24. School districts may be ordered to provide compensatory education or 

additional services to a student who has been denied a FAPE. (Parents of Student W. v. 

Puyallup School Dist. (9th Cir. 1994) 31 F.3d 1489, 1496 (Puyallup).) The authority to 

order such relief extends to hearing officers. (Forest Grove School Dist. v. T.A. (2009) 557 

U.S. 230, 243-244, fn. 11 [129 S.Ct. 2484].) 

25. Compensatory education is an equitable remedy and must rely on a fact-

specific and individualized assessment of a student’s current needs. (Puyallup, supra, 

31F.3d at p. 1496; Reid v. District of Columbia (D.C.Cir. 2005) 401 F.3d 516, 524 (Reid); 

Shaun M. v. Hamamoto (D. Hawai’i, Oct. 22, 2009 (Civ. No. 09-00075)) 2009 WL3415308, 

pp. 8-9 [current needs]; B.T. v. Department of Educ. (D. Hawai’i 2009) 676 F.Supp.2d 982, 

989-990 [same].) The award must be “reasonably calculated to provide the educational 

benefits that likely would have accrued from special education services the school 

district should have supplied in the first place.” (Reid v. District of Columbia, supra, 401 

F.3d at p. 524.)  
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26. When a school district denies a child with a disability a FAPE, the child is 

entitled to relief that is "appropriate" in light of the purposes of the IDEA. (School 

Comm. of the Town of Burlington v. Dept. of Educ. (1985) 471 U.S. 359, 374, [105 S. Ct. 

1996, 85 L.Ed.2d 385]; 20 U.S.C. § 1415.) Based on the principle set forth in Burlington, 

federal courts have held that compensatory education is a form of equitable relief which 

may be granted for the denial of appropriate special education services to help 

overcome lost educational opportunity. (See Parents of Student W. v. Puyallup Sch. Dist. 

(9th Cir. 1994) 31 F. 3d 1489, 1496.) The purpose of compensatory education is to 

"ensure that the student is appropriately educated within the meaning of the IDEA." (Id.)  

27. Based on Factual Findings 1-91 And Legal Conclusions 24-26, Student is 

entitled to compensatory education for the District’s denial of FAPE from March 29, 

2012, through May 31, 2012, and September 10, 2012, through March 28, 2013.  

28. However, Student’s failure to present supporting evidence regarding 

remedies places the ALJ in a difficult position. Student has proven by the weight of the 

evidence that he was denied a FAPE from March 29, 2012, through May 31, 2012, and 

from September 10, 2012, through March 28, 2013. The question here is how to devise a 

remedy given Student’s failure to provide an evidentiary basis to award reimbursement 

for the ABA services already provided or future placement with a non-public school or 

agency. The invoices provided for the ABA services were spotty and unclear and there 

was no testimony or documentary evidence regarding any non-public school or agency. 

The ALJ has reviewed the testimony of the witnesses and the documentary evidence 

presented at hearing. Applying the equitable principles discussed in Legal Conclusion 

26, the ALJ finds it reasonable and equitable for the District to be ordered to provide 

Student compensatory services as detailed in the Factual Findings 79-91and the Order 

below.  
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29. Student has intensive needs and should have been provided services in 

the areas of functional skills, communication, OT, academics, and other areas as 

specified in the Factual Findings. Student’s compensatory needs can be met through in 

home ABA services, in home special education teaching, speech and language therapy 

and OT, both consultation and direct. The direct OT is to compensate Student for the OT 

services that should have been delivered via the teacher, speech therapist and Parents 

through consultation with the occupational therapist, which did not happen during the 

duration of the August 29, 2012, IEP amendment, save a few instances.  

ORDER 

1. All of Student’s compensatory services will take place during the District’s 

summer breaks. These services will be delivered starting no later than July 25, 2013, and 

continue until the last Friday before the beginning of the 2013-2014 SY. The services will 

begin again the Monday after the end of the 2013-2014 SY and continue until the last 

Friday before the 2014-2015 SY starts. If Parents choose to take a vacation during any of 

the periods, the hours will not be counted and the time will accrue. If there are still 

compensatory hours at the end of the 2015 ESY, the services will continue into the ESY 

for the 2015-2016 SY and beyond. Any provider cancellations will be credited to 

Student. Student absences with less than 24 hours notice will not be credited to Student. 

Prescheduled student absences and absences with more than 24 hours notice will be 

credited to Student.26  

 
26 Any services that the District determined it was providing as make-up services 

for the services upon which this denial of FAPE has been determined were at the 

District’s own risk and will not be subtracted from this award as there was no evidence 

that any make up services the District provided were consistent with the requirements of 

the law or appropriately delivered to Student.  
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2. The District shall contract with the same ABA provider Parents contract 

with for the insurance based services, as long as the ABA provider is a California certified 

non-public agency for three hours a day a total of 167 days, plus all related supervisory 

hours and clinic hours. This can be in addition to the ABA services obtained and paid for 

through Parents’ insurance. Parents may decrease or cease insurance based ABA 

services during the time period that the District provides the services, but are under no 

obligation to do so. 

3. The District shall provide one hour per day of home instruction from a 

credentialed special education teacher for 167 days. The District is instructed to contract 

with a non-public agency to provide these services immediately should the District not 

be able to locate a District, SELPA or another school district employee who can 

implement the services as outlined in this order. These hours can be combined during 

one week for a total of five hours per week for scheduling convenience, taking into 

account Student’s ability to manage the time periods. The teacher shall be available 

during the regular school day and shall be a properly credentialed special education 

teacher. If Parents want to take advantage of this service, Parents shall make student 

available during the regular school day. The District shall take into account Student’s 

ABA schedule and all parties will cooperate to find agreeable times for teaching during 

regular school hours. This teacher can provide some services at the same time as the 

ABA services to allow for consultation between the providers to ensure a more seamless 

program for Student. Nothing in this order prohibits the parties from mutually agreeing 

to provide the teaching services outside the school day, in the evening or on weekends. 

The home instruction teacher shall consult with Student’s SDC teacher. 

4. The District will provide Student with 68 hours of speech and language 

therapy delivered individually for two hours per week in the home by District personnel

or an NPA, at the District’s choice.  
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5. The District will provide 15 minutes per week of OT consult for 34 weeks 

and one hour a week of individual OT in the home for 34 weeks. This may be done by 

District staff or an NPA at the District’s choice.  

6. These services are compensatory and do not end if Student moves out of 

the District or ages out of the District before the services are completed.  

PREVAILING PARTY 

Education Code section 56507, subdivision (d), requires that the hearing decision 

indicate the extent to which each party has prevailed on each issue heard and decided. 

Parent prevailed on issues one and three and the District prevailed on issue two.  

RIGHT TO APPEAL THIS DECISION 

The parties to this case have the right to appeal this Decision to a court of 

competent jurisdiction. If an appeal is made, it must be made within 90 days of receipt 

of this decision. (Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (k).) 
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Dated: July 15, 2013 
 
 
      ____________/s/________________  

MARGARET BROUSSARD  
Administrative Law Judge  
Office of Administrative Hearings       
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